IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By_ Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 76,990

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

DARNELL HEADINGS,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

IVY R. GINSBERG Florida Bar # 0612316 Assistant Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 401 N.W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N921 Miami, Florida 33128 (305) 377-5441

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal from the District Court of Appeal, Third District, which passes upon a question certified to be of great public importance pusuant to Rule 9.030(2)(A)(v) of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. The Petitioner, the State of Florida, was the prosecution at the trial court level and the Appellee in the District Court. Respondent, DARNELL HEADINGS, was the defendant in the trial court and the Appellant in the district court. The symbols "R." and "T." will be used to designate the record on appeal and the transcript of proceedings. A copy of the decision below and the Petitioner's brief filed in Beasley v. State, No. 76,102, are attached as an appendix to this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The respondent was charged in a single-count information with first degree arson. (R. 1). Headings, represented by a special assistant public defender, entered a plea of not guilty. (R. 4). At trial, the state produced evidence that the respondent lit several matches and set fire to his sheets in his jail cell and then placed them on top of a wooden television stand. (T. 62-64). The sheets and television were damaged. (T. 64-65). The respondent presented the defense of insanity through his own testimony. (T. 98-99). At the conclusion of the trial, the respondent was found guilty as charged. (R. 14).

Headings was adjudged guilty and sentenced to twelve (12) years, which was within the permitted range. (R. 15-19). Pursuant to the mandatory terms of sections 27.3455, 960.20 and 943.25(4), respectively, Headings was ordered to pay predesignated costs of \$200.00, \$20.00, and \$3.00. (R. 15). Pursuant to section 943.25(8), \$2.00 in optional costs were assessed. (R. 15).

On appeal, the district court below affirmed the conviction and sentence imposed but reversed the assessment of costs and certified the question here, as it did in its previous decision in Vamper v. State, 562 So.2d. 816 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990).

(A. at 3-4). The question certified by the district court in Vamper as being one of great public importance, which is presently pending before this Court in Vamper v. State, No. 76,165 was as follows:

WHETHER, SUBSEQUENT TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF CHAPTER 86-154, LAWS OF FLORIDA, INABILITY TO PAY IS A DEFENSE TO THE ASSESSMENT (BUT NOT ENFORCEMENT) OF COSTS AGAINST A CRIMINAL DEFENDANT?

POINT ON APPEAL

WHETHER, SUBSEQUENT TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF CHAPTER 86-154, LAWS OF FLORIDA, INABILITY TO PAY IS A DEFENSE TO THE ASSESSMENT(BUT NOT ENFORCEMENT) OF COSTS AGAINST A CRIMINAL DEFENDANT?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Consistent with the ex post facto clause, publication of the criminal offense and penalties thereof in Florida Statutes prior to the commission of the offense gave Headings reasonable notice of the mandatory costs at issue here.

Headings was given a fair opportunity to be heard in the guilt and sentencing phase by the standard procedures set forth in this Court's Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. This conclusion is supported by controlling case law.

Statutorily mandated and fixed costs travel with, or inhere in, a judgment of guilt. The formal imposition of such statutorily mandated costs is a non-discretionary, purely ministerial, function.

The due process opportunity to be heard does not include the right to present irrelevant evidence or argument that the trial judge refuse to perform its ministerial sentencing duties. The sentencing hearing provided by rule 3.720 afforded Headings a due process opportunity to be heard which was appropriate to the circumstances.

This Court has consistently upheld the constitutional authority of the legislature to statutorily mandate the imposition of costs.

Jenkins v. State, 444 So.2d 947 (Fla. 1984), as clarified by <u>Bull v. State</u>, 548 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1989), does not require special notice and an additional hearing beyond the sentencing hearing afforded Headings pursuant to rule 3.720.

The certified question as presented in <u>Vamper v. State</u>, No. 76,165 should be answered in the negative, whereas the similar certified question as worded in <u>Beasley v. State</u>, No. 76,102, should be answered in the affirmative.

ARGUMENT

SUBSEQUENT TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF CHAPTER 86-154, LAWS OF FLORIDA, INABILITY TO PAY IS NOT A DEFENSE TO THE ASSESSMENT (BUT NOT ENFORCEMENT) OF COSTS AGAINST A CRIMINAL DEFENDANT.

The petitioner respectfully adopts the argument portion of the brief in Beasley v. State, No. 76,102 which is presently pending before this Court on this issue. (A. 5-37).

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the certified question should be answered in the negative, that inability to pay is not a defense to the assessment of costs against a criminal defendant and that Headings was given reasonable notice and a fair opportunity to be heard pursuant to the due process clause of the federal and state constitutions.