SID J. WHITE MAR 4 1991 CLERK, SHPREME COURT Byeputy Clerk

01

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 76,990

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

DARNELL HEADINGS,

Respondent.

ON APPLICATION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

## BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1351 Northwest 12th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-3005

VALERIE JONAS Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 0616079

Counsel for Petitioner

#

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The state argues that this Court should recede from the requirement of <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 444 So.2d 947 (Fla. 1984), of notice and a hearing, prior to assessment of court costs, because (1) publication of the cost statutes provides all the notice due; and (2) the sentencing hearing, pursuant to Rule 3. 720, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure (1990), provides all the hearing due, but that because the imposition of costs is mandatory, the defendant need not be heard on this issue at that time.

Mr. Headings responds that: (1) publication of the cost statutes does not constitute adequate notice sufficient to comport with procedural due process requirements under the state and federal constitutions; and (2) notice provided at the

-1-

sentencing hearing provided by Rule 3.720, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, with an opportunity to be heard at that time regarding imposition of costs, would satisfy the requirements of procedural due process, and the mandatory character of the cost statutes does not obviate the need to determine in accordance with <u>Jenkins</u>, an indigent defendant's foreseeable ability to pay costs in the future.

#### ARGUMENT

In Jenkins v. State, 444 So.2d 947 (Fla. 1984), this Court held that court costs, pursuant to §§ 943.25(4) and 960.20, Florida Statutes (1989), could be assessed against a convicted indigent criminal defendant, so long as the defendant received procedural due process, as set forth in Fuller v. Oregon, 417 U.S. 40, 94 S.Ct. 2116, 40 L.Ed.2d 642 (1974). In Fuller, the United States Supreme Court upheld a legislative scheme for recoupment of attorneys fees and costs, against an indigent criminal defendant, because the obligation of repayment was conditional only. The obligation could not be imposed, at sentencing, if "there is no likelihood that a defendant's indigency Nor could the obligation subsequently be enforced will end." against one who could not meet it without substantial hardship. The legislation was "tailored to impose an obligation only upon those with a foreseeable ability to meet it, and to enforce the obligation only against those who actually become able to meet it without hardship." 94 S.Ct. at 2125. The scheme thus contemplated two hearings: one at the time of assessment, to determine foreseeable ability; and one at the time of enforcement, to determine actual ability, without undue hardship.

Jenkins adopted the provision set forth in <u>Fuller</u> for a hearing prior to the assessment of costs, to determine "foreseeable ability"; and a hearing prior to enforcement, to determine actual ability without undue hardship:

> "The state must . . . provide adequate notice of such assessment to the defendant with full opportunity to object to the assessment of those costs. In addition, enforcement of the

> > -3-

collection of those costs must occur only after a judicial finding that the indigent defendant has the ability to pay in accordance with the principle enunciated in <u>Fuller v.</u> <u>Oregon</u>. 444 So.2d at 950.

This Court extended the requirement of notice and a hearing, prior to assessment and prior to enforcement, to costs imposed pursuant to § 27.3455, Florida Statutes (1990). See Mays v. State, 519 So.2d 618 (Fla. 1988); Shipley v. State, 528 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1988); Wood v. State, 544 So.2d 1004 (Fla. 1989). This Court has held that because notice, and a judicial determination of foreseeable ability go "to the very heart of the requirements of the due process clause of our state and federal constitutions[,] [t]he denial of these basic constitutional rights constitutes fundamental error." See Wood, 544 So.2d at 1006 (construing Jenkins as impliedly holding such due process violations are fundamental error); and Shipley, 528 So.2d at 903. In quashing the decision of the District Court of Appeal in Barker v. State, 518 So.2d 450 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988), which required a contemporaneous objection to a Jenkins violation, because costs would assertedly routinely be reimposed upon remand, this Court stated:

> Were this true in every case, there would be no need for notice and hearings. Unfortunately, costs are sometimes incorrectly assessed against defendants. It is the rights of these persons whom the due process clause seeks to protect, and it is fundamental error for a court to fail to protect those rights. Without adequate notice and a meaningful hearing, a court has no way of knowing who should pay costs and who should not. Without adequate notice and a meaningful hearing, the requirements of due process have not been met.

Wood, 544 So.2d at 1006.

This Court's consistent requirement of notice and a hearing prior to assessment was not therefore a response to any selfenforcing characteristic of the cost statutes to which its holdings were addressed: the cost statutes implicated in <u>Jenkins</u>, the progenitor of <u>Wood</u>, contain no self-enforcing features. The requirement of pre-assessment notice in <u>Jenkins</u> was designed to ensure specifically against the requirement of repayment from one whose indigency will not, in all likelihood, cease; and to ensure generally against an inaccurate or erroneous assessment for any other reason. Therefore, the question certified to this court:

> WHETHER, SUBSEQUENT TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF CHAPTER 86-154, LAWS OF FLORIDA, INABILITY TO PAY IS A DEFENSE TO THE ASSESSMENT (BUT NOT ENFORCEMENT) OF COSTS AGAINST A CRIMINAL DEFENDANT?

must be answered in the affirmative.

(1) <u>Publication of the cost statutes is not a</u> <u>constitutional substitute for actual notice of</u> the imposition of court costs.

The state maintains that the mere publication of 943.25(4), 960.20 and 27.3455, Florida Statutes (1990)SS constitutes reasonable notice, under the due process provisions of the state and federal constitutions, that costs will be imposed upon conviction. (Petitioner's Brief, pp. 6-9). It is apodictic that mere publication of a pending deprivation of life, liberty or property does not comport with the procedural due process requirement of notice, where the provision of actual notice is reasonably possible or practicable. Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank of Trust, 339 U.S. 306, 70 S.Ct. 652 (1950). Because costs are ordinarily imposed at the time of sentencing, actual notice can reasonably be provided to the defendant at that

-5-

time. There is no cognizable state interest to be served by a trial court's refusal to provide actual notice to a defendant who is then in its presence for the purpose of sentencing. Publication of the cost statutes is not a constitutional substitute for the provision of actual notice, under these circumstances.

(2) The sentencing hearing provided pursuant to Rule 3.720, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure (1980) is an appropriate forum for hearing prior to the imposition of court costs, so long as actual notice and a meaningful opportunity to be heard are then provided.

The state further contends that the hearing provided pursuant to Rule 3.720, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure (1990), suffices to provide the indigent defendant a meaningful opportunity to be heard regarding the imposition of costs. Respondent agrees. So long as the indigent defendant is provided notice, at that time, and a meaningful opportunity to be heard, upon inquiry at that time, regarding his foreseeable ability to discharge the assessment, the sentencing hearing is the appropriate forum in which to make this determination.

However, as the state concedes, trial courts often impose costs at sentencing merely by checking the appropriate box on the judgment and sentence forms, and without then notifying the defendant of its intent to do so, or inquiring into his foreseeable ability to discharge this obligation. (Petitioner's Brief, pp. 13-14). The state defends this practice, by asserting that the defendant is not in any case entitled to be heard on the issue, because the imposition is mandated by the cost statutes.

-6-

(Petitioner's Brief, pp. 12-13, 15-16). But the fact that a penalty is mandatory does not obviate the need for a hearing prior to imposition.<sup>1</sup> Rule 3.720, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure (1990) requires that the trial court inquire whether legal cause exists why sentence should not be imposed.<sup>2</sup> This requirement applies to both mandatory and discretionary sentences. Jenkins, in relying on Fuller, holds that where an indigent defendant lacks the foreseeable ability to discharge the assessment of court costs, the obligation to make payment in the future should not be imposed. At the point that determination is made, "legal cause" exists for failing to impose court costs.

1

The state has relied upon <u>Morgan v. Cook</u>, 344 So.2d 577 (Fla. 1977) for the proposition that where a penalty is mandatory, it may be imposed automatically, without notice or an opportunity to be heard. (Petitioner's Brief, p. 16). In <u>Morgan</u>, this Court held constitutional Section 944.28(1), Florida Statutes (1973), which provided for the forfeiture of earned and extra gain time, without notice and a hearing, upon a prisoner's escape, "[f]or reasons stated in <u>Rankin v. Wainwright</u>, 351 F.Supp. 1306 (M.D.Fla. 1972)." 344 So.2d at 578. <u>Rankin</u> does not in fact support this result. <u>Rankin</u> held only that where a prisoner had been <u>acquitted</u> of escape, § 944.28 did not apply to effect a forfeiture of his gain time. <u>Rankin</u> did not purport to address the question of that statute's facial validity. See <u>Hanks v. Wainwright</u>, 360 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978)(decrying the absence of rationale for the holding in <u>Morgan</u>).

The defendant may show as legal cause that: "(2) That he has been pardoned of the offense for which he is about to be sentenced;

(3) That he is not the same person against whom the verdict or finding of the court or judgment was rendered;

(4) If the defendant is a woman and sentence of death is to be pronounced, that she is pregnant;

Rule 3.720(a)(1)-(4).

The state submits that this court's opinion in <u>Bull v.</u> <u>State</u>, 548 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1989) supports its position that no hearing is required prior to assessment of court costs. <u>Bull</u> held that no hearing is required prior to assessment of attorneys fees and related costs, pursuant to § 27.56, Florida Statutes (1990):

> "Petitioner argues that rule 3.720(d)(l) is deficient in that he must be given an opportunity to challenge the imposition of any lien for the services of an appointed attorney. We disagree. Section 27.56 provides for the assessment of fees and costs as a matter of law. It is only the amount which is potentially at issue".

In fact, Rule 3.720 expressly provides for notice prior to assessment of fees:

"(d)(l) If the accused was represented by a public defender or special assistant public defender, the court shall notify the accused of the imposition of a lien pursuant to section 27.56, Florida Statutes (1979)".

Rule 3.720(d)(1). Significantly, unlike the cost statutes at issue here, the assessment of fees, pursuant to § 27.56, is discretionary, not mandatory:

"(1)(a) The court having jurisdiction over any defendant who has been determined to be guilty of a criminal act . . <u>may</u> assess attorney's fees and costs against the defendant."

\$27.56(1)(a). It may be that the requirement of a determination of foreseeable ability, pursuant to <u>Fuller</u>, upon which <u>Bull</u> expressly relies, is intended to constrain the court's discretion in this regard. It may be that at the time of hearing upon the

-8-

amount of fees to be assessed, pursuant to §  $27.56(7)^3$  and Rule  $3.720(d)(1)^4$ , lack of foreseeable ability is a defense to the imposition of fees in any amount. In any event, <u>Bull</u> does not purport to address the question whether a hearing is required prior to assessment of court costs, noting only that its holding does not conflict with Jenkins. 548 So.2d at 1105.

Finally, the state relies upon <u>United States v. Pagan</u>, 785 F.2d 378 (2d Cir.), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 479 U.S. 1017, 107 S.Ct. 667, 93 L.Ed.2d 719 (1986); <u>United States v. Rivera-Velez</u>, 839 F.2d 8 (1st Cir. 1988); and <u>United States v. Cooper</u>, 870 F.2d 586 (11th Cir. 1989); for the proposition that notice and a hearing are required only prior to enforcement, but not prior to assessment of costs pursuant to a mandatory cost provision, such as those

- § 27.56(7), Florida Statutes (1990).
- 4

(d)(1) If the accused was represented by a public defender or special assistant public defender, the court shall notify the accused of the imposition of a lien pursuant to section 27.56, Florida Statutes (1979). The amount of the lien shall be given and a judgment entered in that amount against the accused. Notice of the accused's right to a hearing to contest the amount of the lien shall be given at the time of sentence.

Rule 3.720(d)(1), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure (1990).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> (7) The court having jurisdiction of the defendantrecipient may, at such stage of the proceedings as the court may deem appropriate, determine the value of the services of the public defender, special assistant public defender, or appointed private legal counsel and costs, at which time the defendant-recipient or parent, after adequate notice thereof, shall have opportunity to be heard and offer objection to the determination, and to be represented by counsel, with due opportunity to exercise and be accorded the procedures and rights provided in the laws and court rules pertaining to civil cases at law.

involved below. Needless to say, the legislature cannot, by mandating the assessment or enforcement of court costs, or the imposition of any penalty, extinguish a defendant's right to procedural due process. In any case, Pagan, which is the basis for Cooper and Rivera-Velez, holds only that the substantive due process and equal protection provisions of the federal constitution do not forbid the assessment of court costs against an indigent defendant.<sup>5</sup> Fuller says the same thing, with the proviso that the defendant's rights to procedural due process must be met. Neither Pagan nor its progeny purport to abolish, nor even address the procedural due process requirements established in Fuller and Jenkins, as well as in Wood, Mays and Shipley, of notice and a hearing prior to the assessment and prior to the enforcement of court costs, pursuant to §§ 943.25, 960.20, 27.3455, Florida Statutes.

Two values have been identified in connection with the procedural due process requirement of notice and a hearing: the <u>instrumental</u> value of a hearing in assuring that the laws are accurately and consistently applied; and the <u>intrinsic</u> value of participation in the process, from persons affected by its operation. This latter value has been described as follows:

[T]here is *intrinsic* value in the due process

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> It is important to note that the holding in Jenkins explicitly rests not only on the United States Constitution, Amendments 5 and 14, but also on Article I, § 9 of the state constitution, which is more expansive, and more protective of the criminal defendant than is the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. See <u>State v. Glosson</u>, 462 So.2d 1082 (Fla. 1985); <u>Brown v. State</u>, 484 So.2d 1324 (Fla. 3d DCA), <u>review</u> <u>denied</u>, 492 So.2d 1330 (Fla. 1986); <u>Lee v. State</u>, 422 So.2d 928 (Fla. 3d DCA), review denied, 431 So.2d 989 (Fla. 1983).

right to be heard, since it grants to the individuals or groups against whom government decisions operate the chance to participate in the processes by which those decisions are made, an opportunity that expresses their From this perspective, dignity as persons. the hearing may be considered both as a "mode of politics," and as an expression of the rule of law, regarded here as the antithesis of power wielded without accountability to those on whom it focuses. Whatever its outcome, such a hearing represents a valued human interaction in which the affected person least the satisfaction of experiences at participating in the decision that vitally concerns her, and perhaps the separate satisfaction of receiving an explanation of why the decision is being made in a certain Both the right to be heard from, and the way. told why, are analytically right to be distinct from the right to secure a different outcome [the instrumental valve]; these rights to interchange express the elementary idea that to be a person, rather than a thing, is at least to be consulted about what is done with one. . . At stake here is not just the much-acclaimed appearance of justice but, from perspective that treats process as а intrinsically significant, the very essence of justice.

Tribe, American Constitutional Law, second ed. (1988).

The requirement that the trial court notify the indigent defendant of its intent to assess costs, and inquire into his foreseeable ability, at the time of sentencing, instead of merely checking boxes on forms, serves both values secured by the procedural due process clause: the instrumental value in assuring that costs are correctly imposed against one with the foreseeable ability to pay them; and the intrinsic value in recognizing the dignity of indigent persons and affording them the opportunity for human interaction in a process which affects them. It cannot seriously be contended that the requirement that the trial court provide notice and a hearing on the imposition of court costs, to

-11-

an indigent defendant who is then before it, will constitute a significant burden upon the criminal justice system. The fact is that many indigent defendants will never become solvent, but will instead suffer all their lives from the stigma, deprivation and despair of poverty. A determination at sentencing that a defendant's indigency will never end - a poignant probability in many cases - would avoid futile efforts at future enforcement, to which inability to pay would concededly be a defense.

#### CONCLUSION

The rule of <u>stare decisis</u>, that is, "[t]o abide by, or adhere to, decided cases", <u>Black's Law Dictionary</u> 1577 (rev. 4th ed. 1968), "is a fundamental principle of Florida law." <u>State v.</u> <u>Dwyer</u>, 332 So.2d 333, 335 (Fla. 1976). While "its application is not obligatory in any particular case, it is considered appropriate in most instances in order to produce consistency in the application of legal principles unless for some compelling reason it becomes appropriate to recede therefrom." <u>Forman v. Florida</u> Land Holding Corporation, 102 So.2d 596, 598 (Fla. 1958).

No precedents or arguments supplied by the State support departure from this Court's consistent and unambiguous command that a defendant receive notice and a hearing prior to the assessment and the enforcement of court costs. The state has not argued, nor could it, that the <u>Jenkins</u> requirement of preassessment notice has generated any significant hardship or injustice. This court should therefore not recede from the requirement of Jenkins and its progeny.